UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q	
-----------	--

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission file number 001-36714

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

46-2956775

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

201 Mission Street, Suite 2375 San Francisco, California 94105

(Address of principal executive offices, zip code)

(415) 371-8300

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o $\,$ No x

As of May 10, 2016, there were 10,142,519 shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, outstanding.

Table of Contents

	Page No.
PART I. — FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)	
Item 1. Condensed Unaudited Financial Statements	2
Condensed Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015	2
Condensed Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Three Month Periods Ended March 31, 2016 and 2015	3
Condensed Statement of Changes in Common Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for the period from	
<u>December 31, 2014 through March 31, 2016</u>	4
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 and 2015	5
Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements	6
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	24
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	38
<u>Item 4. Controls and Procedures</u>	38
PART II. — OTHER INFORMATION	40
<u>Item 1. Legal Proceedings</u>	40
<u>Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	40
<u>Item 6. Exhibits</u>	40
<u>SIGNATURE</u>	41

Table of Contents

respectively.

Accumulated deficit

Additional paid-in capital

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity

PART I. — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Financial Statements

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS							
		March 31, 2016 (Unaudited)		December 31, 2015 (1)			
Assets		((-)			
Current assets:							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	7,214,052	\$	7,697,531			
Accounts receivable		12,796		55,867			
Due from former parent		2,546		3,199			
Inventory		269,631		229,871			
Deferred offering costs		_		143,231			
Prepaid expenses		625,743		324,083			
Total current assets		8,124,768		8,453,782			
Property and equipment, net		907,077		829,232			
Restricted cash		2,821,260		3,000,000			
Other assets		122,163		122,163			
Total assets	\$	11,975,268	\$	12,405,177			
Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity							
Current liabilities:							
Accounts payable	\$	559,860	\$	574,462			
License fee payable to former parent				425,000			
Deferred revenue		279,065		251,936			
Convertible notes payable		150,000		150,000			
Accrued expenses		583,770		798,434			
Current portion of long-term debt		2,119,730		1,707,899			
Total current liabilities		3,692,425		3,907,731			
Long-term debt, net of discount		3,629,325		4,095,028			
Deferred rent		4,981		3,321			
Total liabilities	\$	7,326,731	\$	8,006,080			
Commitments and Contingencies (See note 6)							
Stockholders' Equity:							
Preferred stock: \$0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015;							
no shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.		_		_			
Common stock: \$0.0001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015;							
10,142,519 and 8,124,923 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015,							
		1 01 4		040			

1,014

34,334,055

(29,686,532)

4,648,537

11,975,268

812

30,100,613

(25,702,328)

12,405,177

4,399,097

(1) The condensed balance sheet at December 31, 2015 is derived from the audited financial statements at that date included in the Company's Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2016.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2

Table of Contents

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31,		
	 2016		2015
Revenue	\$ 38,146	\$	62,387
Operating Expenses			
Cost of revenue	18,368		34,298
Research and development expense	1,751,741		1,423,043
Sales and marketing expense	164,413		190,303
General and administrative expense	1,788,385		1,093,687
Total operating expenses	3,722,907		2,741,331
Loss from operations	 (3,684,761)		(2,678,944)
Interest expense, net	(284,236)		(933,032)
Other income/(expense)	(15,207)		3,109
Change in fair value of warrants	 _		(328,516)
Net loss and comprehensive loss	(3,984,204)		(3,937,383)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock	 _		(187,086)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (3,984,204)	\$	(4,124,469)
Net loss per share atributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted	\$ (0.43)	\$	(1.43)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted	 9,307,354		2,874,330

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

3

Table of Contents

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN COMMON STOCK, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(Unaudited)

	Series A C Preferre Shares		Commo Shares	on Stock Amount	Additional paid- in capital	Accumulated deficit	Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Balances - December 31, 2014	3,015,902	\$ 7,304,914	2,874,330	\$ 288	\$ 1,175,242	\$ (9,410,778)	\$ (8,235,248)
Issuance of common stock in initial public offering, net of discounts and commissions of \$1,209,802, offering costs of \$2,897,825 and offering costs in the form							
of common stock warrants of \$400,400	_	_	2,860,000	286	15,511,974	_	15,512,260
Warrant, issued in conjunction with the							
initial public offering	_	_	_	_	400,400	_	400,400
Conversion of preferred stock into common							
stock upon initial public offering	(3,015,902)	(7,651,288)	2,010,596	201	7,651,087	_	7,651,288
Conversion of preferred stock warrant							
liability into additional paid-in capital							
upon initial public offering	_	_	_	_	1,150,985	_	1,150,985
Conversion of convertible notes into							
common stock upon initial public offering	_	_	374,997	37	2,099,963	_	2,100,000
Stock-based compensation	_	_	_	_	992,165	_	992,165
Beneficial conversion feature on notes							
payable	_	_	_	_	1,202,521	_	1,202,521
Deemed dividends on Series A	_	263,060	_	_	(263,060)	_	(263,060)

Accretion of issuance costs	_	83,314	_	_	(83,314)	_	(83,314)
Napo license fee abatement	_	_	_	_	250,000	_	250,000
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of							
stock options	_	_	5,000	_	12,650	_	12,650
Net and comprehensive loss	_	_	_	_	_	(16,291,550)	(16,291,550)
Balances - December 31, 2015		\$ 0	8,124,923	\$ 812	\$ 30,100,613	\$(25,702,328)	\$ 4,399,097
Issuance of common stock in a secondary public offering ,net of discounts and commissions of \$373,011 and offering							
costs of \$496,887.	_	_	2,000,000	200	4,129,902		4,130,102
Issuance of common stock in exchange for vested restricted stock units	_	_	17,596	2	(2)		_
Stock-based compensation	_	_		_	103,542		103,542
Net and comprehensive loss	_	_	_	_	_	(3,984,204)	(3,984,204)
Balances - March 31, 2016		\$ 0	10,142,519	\$ 1,014	\$ 34,334,055	\$(29,686,532)	\$ 4,648,537

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

4

Table of Contents

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

	Three-months Ended March 31,			
		2016		2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities				
Net loss	\$	(3,984,204)	\$	(3,937,383)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation expense		7,878		_
Materials cost in connection with license activity		_		6,287
Stock-based compensation		103,542		52,617
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount		131,123		845,961
Change in fair value of warrants		_		328,516
Changes in assets and liabilities				
Accounts receivable - trade		43,071		(8,140)
Inventory		(39,760)		(116,185)
Prepaid expenses		(301,660)		(98,145)
Other current assets		_		(11,185)
Due from parent		653		4,663
Deferred revenue		27,129		365,138
Deferred rent		1,660		_
License fee payable		(425,000)		(25,000)
Accounts payable		101,629		1,063,665
Accrued expenses		(193,919)		190,342
Total cash used in operations		(4,527,858)		(1,338,849)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities				
Purchase of equipment		(85,723)		_
Change in restricted cash		178,740		<u> </u>
Total cash provided by investing activities		93,017		
Cash Flows from Financing Activities				
Loan advance				1,000,000
Repayment of long-term debt		(178,740)		_
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible notes payable, net		_		250,000
Deferred offering costs		_		(10,000)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in a follow-on secondary offering, net of commissions and discounts		4,130,102		
Total Cash Provided by Financing Activities		3,951,362		1,240,000
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(483,479)		(98,849)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period		7,697,531		845,192
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$	7,214,052	\$	746,343
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities				
Interest paid on long-term debt	\$	150,150	\$	_
Warrants issued in connection with convertible notes payable	\$		\$	47,479
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock	\$	_	\$	187,086
Abatement of license fee payable to Napo	\$		\$	250,000
Fixed assets in accounts payable	\$	12,250	\$	250,000
Offering costs in accounts payable	\$	(116,231)	\$	
Offering costs in accrued liabilities	\$	(27,000)	\$	

Table of Contents

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Business

Jaguar Animal Health, Inc. ("Jaguar" or the "Company") was incorporated on June 6, 2013 (inception) in Delaware. The Company was a majority-owned subsidiary of Napo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Napo" or the "Former Parent") until the close of the Company's initial public offering on May 18, 2015. The Company was formed to develop and commercialize first-in-class gastrointestinal products for companion and production animals and horses. The Company's first commercial product, Neonorm Calf, was launched in 2014. The Company launched a second commercial product, Neonorm Foal, in the first quarter of 2016. The Company's activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure additional funding in order to timely compete the development and commercialization of products. The Company operates in one segment and is headquartered in San Francisco, California.

On June 11, 2013, Jaguar issued 2,666,666 shares of common stock to Napo in exchange for cash and services. On July 1, 2013, Jaguar entered into an employee leasing and overhead agreement (the "Service Agreement") with Napo, under which Napo agreed to provide the Company with the services of certain Napo employees for research and development and the general administrative functions of the Company. On January 27, 2014, Jaguar executed an intellectual property license agreement with Napo pursuant to which Napo transferred fixed assets and development materials, and licensed intellectual property and technology to Jaguar. On February 28, 2014, the Service Agreement terminated and the associated employees became employees of Jaguar effective March 1, 2014. See Note 9 for additional information regarding the capital contributions and Note 4 for the Service Agreement and license agreement details, respectively.

Reverse Stock Split

In October 2014, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved a 1-for-1.5 reverse stock split (the "Reverse Split") of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock and increased the number of authorized shares of common stock from 10,000,000 shares to 15,000,000 shares. The Company effected the Reverse Split on October 27, 2014. Under the terms of the Reverse Split, each share of common stock, issued and outstanding as of such effective date, was automatically reclassified and changed into two-thirds of one share of common stock, without any action by the stockholder. Fractional shares were rounded down to the nearest whole share. All share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the Reverse Split.

Initial Public Offering

On May 18, 2015, the Company completed an initial public offering ("IPO") of its common stock. In connection with its IPO, the Company issued and sold 2,860,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of \$7.00 per share. As a result of the IPO, the Company received \$15.9 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$1.2 million and offering expenses of \$2.9 million (\$3.3 million including non-cash offering expenses) payable by the Company. In connection with the IPO, the Company's outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 2,010,596 shares of common stock and the Company's outstanding warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock were all converted to warrants to purchase common stock.

Secondary Public Offering

On February 8, 2016, the Company completed a secondary public offering of its common stock. In connection with its secondary public offering, the Company issued and sold 2,000,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of \$2.50 per share. As a result of the secondary public offering, the Company received \$4.1 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$373,011 and offering expenses of \$496,887.

Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company has incurred recurring operating losses since inception and has an accumulated deficit of \$29,686,532 as of March 31, 2016. The Company expects to incur substantial losses in future periods. Further, the Company's future operations are dependent on the success of the Company's ongoing development and commercialization efforts. There is no assurance that profitable operations, if ever achieved, could be sustained on a continuing basis.

6

Table of Contents

The Company plans to finance its operations and capital funding needs through equity and/or debt financing as well as revenue from future product sales. However, there can be no assurance that additional funding will be available to the Company on acceptable terms on a timely basis, if at all, or that the Company will generate sufficient cash from operations to adequately fund operating needs or ultimately achieve profitability. If the Company is unable to obtain an adequate level of financing needed for the long-term development and commercialization of its products, the Company will need to curtail planned activities and reduce costs. Doing so will likely have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to execute on its business plan. These matters raise substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue in existence as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company's management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in its financial statements and the accompanying notes. The accounting policies that reflect the Company's more significant estimates and judgments and that the Company believes are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating its reported financial results are valuation of stock options; valuation of warrant liabilities; impairment of long lived assets; useful lives for depreciation; valuation adjustments for excess and obsolete inventory; deferred taxes and valuation allowances on deferred tax assets; and evaluation and measurement of contingencies. Those estimates could change, and as a result, actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Cash and Cash Equivalents

The financial instrument that potentially subjects the Company to a concentration of credit risk is that is held at a financial institution of high credit standing. Cash is generally in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance limits. Therefore, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the event that the balances exceed FDIC insurance limits. The carrying value of cash approximates fair value at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Fair Values

The Company's financial instruments include, cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, accrued expenses, amounts due to Napo, the former parent, warrant liabilities, and debt. Cash is reported at fair value. The recorded carrying amount of accounts payable, accrued expenses and amounts due to Napo approximates their fair value due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the interest-bearing debt approximates fair value based upon the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for bank loans with similar terms and maturities. See Note 3 for the fair value measurements, and Note 7 for the fair value of the Company's warrant liabilities.

Restricted Cash

On August 18, 2015, the Company entered into a long-term loan and security agreement with a lender for up to \$8.0 million, which provided for an initial loan commitment of \$6.0 million. The loan agreement required the Company to maintain a base minimum cash balance of \$4.5 million until the Company met certain milestones and/or when the Company begins making principal payments. On December 22, 2015, the Company achieved certain milestones and the base minimum cash balance was reduced to \$3.0 million. On March 1, 2016, the restricted cash balance was further reduced by a \$178,740 principal loan payment, resulting in a restricted cash balance of \$2,821,260 at March 31, 2016. On April 21, 2016, the loan and security was amended upon which the Company repaid \$1.5 million of the debt out of restricted cash. The amendment modified the repayment amortization schedule providing a four-month period of interest-only payments for the period from May through August 2016.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The Company calculates inventory valuation adjustments when conditions indicate that the net realizable value is less than cost due to physical deterioration, usage, obsolescence, reductions in estimated future

.

Table of Contents

demand or reduction in selling price. Inventory write-downs are measured as the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value. There have been no write-downs to date.

Property and Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Equipment begins to be depreciated when it is placed into service. Depreciation will be calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance of assets are charged to expense as incurred. Costs of major additions and betterments are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets disposed of are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in income (loss) from operations.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company regularly reviews the carrying value and estimated lives of all of its long-lived assets, including property and equipment to determine whether indicators of impairment may exist that warrant adjustments to carrying values or estimated useful lives. The determinants used for this evaluation include management's estimate of the asset's ability to generate positive income from operations and positive cash flow in future periods as well as the strategic significance of the assets to the Company's business objectives.

Should an impairment exist, the impairment loss would be measured based on the excess of the carrying amount over the asset's fair value. The Company has not recognized any impairment losses through March 31, 2016.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred in performing research and development activities including related salaries, clinical trial and related drug and non-drug product costs, contract services and other outside service expenses. Research and development expense is charged to operating expense in the period incurred.

Revenue Recognition

Sales to distributors are made under agreements that may provide distributor price adjustments and rights of return under certain circumstances. Until the Company develops sufficient sales history and pipeline visibility, revenue and costs of distributor sales will be deferred until products are sold by the distributor to the distributor's customers. Revenue recognition depends on notification either directly from the distributor that product has been sold to the distributor's customer, when the Company has access to the data. Deferred revenue on shipments to distributors will reflect the estimated effects of distributor price adjustments, if any, and the estimated amount of gross margin expected to be realized when the distributor sells through product purchased from the Company. Accounts receivable from distributors are recognized and included in deferred revenue when shipped to the distributor. Inventory is relieved and revenue recognized upon shipment by the distributor to their customer. The Company had revenues of \$38,146 and \$62,387 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company's 2013 Equity Incentive Plan and 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (see Note 10) provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards.

The Company measures stock awards granted to employees and directors at fair value on the date of grant and recognizes the corresponding compensation expense of the awards, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service periods, which correspond to the vesting periods of the awards. The Company issues stock awards with only service-based vesting conditions, and records compensation expense for these awards using the straight-line method.

The Company values its shares of common stock by taking into consideration its most recently available valuation of common stock performed by management and the board of directors, as well as additional factors that may have changed since the date of the most recent contemporaneous valuations through the date of grant.

Classification of Securities

The Company applies the principles of ASC 480-10 "Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity" and ASC 815-40 "Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity's Own Equity" to determine whether financial instruments such as warrants, contingently issuable shares and shares subject to repurchase should be classified as liabilities or equity and whether beneficial conversion features exist.

8

Table of Contents

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or in the Company's tax returns. Deferred taxes are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent it believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to income tax expense. Potential for recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated by estimating the future taxable profits expected and considering prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements by applying a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position is deemed more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate, as well as the related net interest and penalties.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) exclusive of transactions with owners (such as capital contributions and distributions). For the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 there was no difference between net loss and comprehensive loss.

Segment Data

The Company manages its operations as a single segment for the purposes of assessing performance and making operating decisions. The Company is an animal health company focused on developing and commercializing prescription and non-prescription products for companion and production animals.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares, including potential dilutive shares of common stock assuming the dilutive effect of potential dilutive securities. For periods in which the Company reports a net loss, diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share, because their impact would be anti-dilutive to the calculation of net loss per common share. Diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)*, which provides guidance for accounting for leases. Under ASU 2016-02, the Company will be required to recognize the assets and liabilities for the rights and

obligations created by leased assets. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-02 on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, *Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (Topic 740)*, which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes. Under ASU 2015-17, deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be classified as noncurrent, eliminating the prior requirement to separate deferred tax assets and liabilities into current and noncurrent. The new guidance is effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The standard may be adopted prospectively or retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company is currently assessing the timing of adoption of the new guidance, but does not expect it will have a material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

9

Table of Contents

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, *Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30)*: Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring debt issuance costs to be presented as a deduction from the corresponding debt liability. ASU 2015-03 will be effective for the Company beginning in its first quarter of 2016, however early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The guidance is to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. We adopted ASU 2015-03 on December 31, 2015.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40)—Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern", which provides guidance regarding management's responsibility to assess whether substantial doubt exists regarding the ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. In connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, management should evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued when applicable). This ASU is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual periods and interim periods thereafter. The Company is currently evaluating the new guidance and has not determined the impact this standard may have on its financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidance which requires that a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. The performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. Compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. If the performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized during and after the requisite service period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved. This guidance will be effective for annual periods (and interim periods within those annual periods) beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company will implement this guidance for all interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have an impact on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers." The objective of ASU 2014-19 is to establish a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and will supersede most of the existing revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the new standard is that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and allows for prospective or retrospective application. The Company is evaluating the new guidance and has not determined the impact this pronouncement will have on its financial statements.

3. Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 "Fair Value Measurements," defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting principles and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined under ASC 820 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard describes a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value which are the following:

- · Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- · Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data; and
- · Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

10

Table of Contents

The following table presents information about the Company's liability that is measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2016 and 2015 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
As of March 31, 2016 Warrant Liability	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total

As of March 31, 2015 Warrant Liability	\$ <u> </u>	\$ _	\$ 977,884	\$ 977,884

The warrant liability was converted into an equity instrument when it became convertible into common stock at the IPO. The change in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability is summarized below:

	Beginning Value of Warrant Liability	Issuance of Common Stock Warrants	F	Change in Fair Value of Level 3 Liability	1	Ending Fair Value of Level 3 Liability
For the three-months ended March 31, 2016	\$	\$ 	\$		\$	_
For the three-months ended March 31, 2015	\$ 601,889	\$ 47,479	\$	328,516	\$	977,884

The change in the fair value of the level 3 warrant liability is reflected in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2015.

There were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2016.

4. License Agreement

On July 11, 2013, Jaguar entered into an option to license Napo's intellectual property and technology (the "Option Agreement"). Under the Option Agreement, upon the payment of \$100,000 in July 2013, the Company obtained an option for a period of two years to execute an exclusive worldwide license to Napo's intellectual property and technology to use for the Company's animal health business. The option price was creditable against future license fees to be paid to Napo under the License Agreement (as defined below).

In January 2014, the Company exercised its option and entered into a license agreement (the "License Agreement") with Napo for an exclusive worldwide license to Napo's intellectual property and technology to permit the Company to develop, formulate, manufacture, market, use, offer for sale, sell, import, export, commercialize and distribute products for veterinary treatment uses and indications for all species of animals. The Company was originally obligated to pay a one-time non-refundable license fee of \$2,000,000, less the option fee of \$100,000. At the Company's option, the license fee could have been paid in common stock. Milestone payments aggregating \$3,150,000 may also be due to Napo based on regulatory approvals of various veterinary products. In addition to the milestone payments, the Company will owe Napo an 8% royalty on annual net sales of products derived from the Croton lechleri tree, up to \$30,000,000 and then, a royalty of 10% on annual net sales of \$30,000,000 or more. Additionally, if any other products are developed, the Company will owe Napo a 2% royalty on annual net sales of pharmaceutical prescription products that are not derived from *Croton lechleri* and a 1% royalty on annual net sales of nonprescription products that are not derived from Croton lechleri. The royalty term expires at the longer of 10 years from the first sale of each individual product or when there is no longer a valid patent claim covering any of the products and a competitive product has entered the market. However, because an IPO of at least \$10,000,000 was consummated prior to December 31, 2015, the royalty was reduced to 2% of annual net sales of its prescription products derived from Croton lechleri and 1% of net sales of its nonprescription products derived from Croton lechleri and no milestone payment will be due and no royalties will be owed on any additional products developed. The Company incurred \$653 and \$0 in royalties for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which is included in sales and marketing expense in the Company's statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company's unpaid royalties total \$3,462 and \$2,810 at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, which is included in accrued liabilities in the Company's balance sheet.

In addition to receiving a License Agreement to Napo's intellectual property and technology, the License also transferred to the Company certain materials and equipment. Materials transferred from Napo have been included in research and development expense on the statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2014. Equipment of \$811,087 related to the License is included in property and equipment on the Company's balance sheet at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 at the cost paid by Napo, which approximates fair value. Some of the equipment was placed into service in November of 2015, and the

11

Table of Contents

Company has booked \$6,568 in depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2016, which is included in research and development expense in the Company's statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

The Company has agreed under the License Agreement to defend, indemnify and hold Napo, its affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, consultants and contractors of Napo harmless from and against any losses, costs, damages, liabilities, fees and expenses arising out of any third-party claim related to the Company's gross negligence, breach of covenants or the manufacture, sale or use of the product or products.

In January 2015, the License Agreement was amended to decrease the one-time non-refundable license fee payable from \$2,000,000 to \$1,750,000 in exchange for acceleration of the payment of the fee. In 2015, payments totalling \$1.2 million were made, and the balance of \$425,000 was paid in March of 2016. The License Fee Payable of \$0 and \$425,000 is included in the Company's balance sheet at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Additionally, the terms of the License Agreement were amended to require the mutual agreement of the parties for payment of the license fee to be remitted in the form of the Company's common stock. The Company may also, at its sole discretion, elect to remit any milestone payments and/or royalties in the form of the Company's common stock. Given that Napo is a significant shareholder of the Company, the abatement of the license fee amount has been recorded as a capital contribution in the accompanying condensed financial statements.

5. Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2016	December 31, 2015
Lab equipment	811,087	811,087

Clinical equipment	23,300	23,300
Software	5,223	_
Work in-process	80,500	_
Total property and equipment at cost	920,110	834,387
Accumulated Depreciation	(13,033)	(5,155)
Property and Equipment, net	907,077	829,232

Depreciation and amortization expense was \$7,878 and \$0 in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Of the \$7,878 of expense in the three months ended March 31, 2016, \$7,733 is included in research and development expense and \$145 is included in general and administrative expense in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

12

Table of Contents

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consist of the following:

	March 31, 2016	December 31, 2015
Accrued compensation and related:		
Accrued vacation	171,812	187,734
Accrued payroll	19,472	80,692
Accrued payroll tax	14,600	43,702
	205,884	312,128
Accrued interest	130,113	127,149
Accrued contract manufacturing costs	170,850	110,141
Accrued clinical	53,438	166,750
Accrued other	23,485	82,266
Total	583,770	798,434

13

Table of Contents

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

Effective July 1, 2015, the Company leases its San Francisco, California headquarters under a non-cancelable sub-lease agreement that expires August 31, 2018. The Company provided cash deposits of \$122,163, consisting of a security deposit of \$29,539 and prepayment of the last three months of the lease of \$92,623, which is identified as other assets on the Company's balance sheet.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of March 31, 2016 are as follows:

Years ending December 31,	Amount
2016 - April through December	268,860
2017	363,486
2018	245,327
Total minimum lease payments	877,673

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable lease period. Rent expense under the non-cancelable operating lease was \$90,278 for the three months ended March 31, 2016, which was included in general and administrative expense in the Company's statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Since March 1, 2014, the date the Service Agreement terminated (Note 4), the Company paid Napo \$33,897 for rent related to the office space utilized by the Company for the months of March, April and May of 2014. Effective June 1, 2014, the Company assumed the existing sublease from Napo. The term of the assumed sublease was from June 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015. Rent expense under the sub-lease was \$38,548 for the three months ended March 31, 2015, which was included in general and administrative expense in the Company's statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Contract Manufacturing Commitment

Effective June 26, 2014 the Company entered into a technology transfer and commercial manufacturing agreement (the "Transfer Agreement") with a contract manufacturer in Italy (the "Manufacturer"), whereby the Company and the Manufacturer will cooperate to develop and refine the manufacturing process for the Company's prescription and non-prescription products. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the Company was to make prepayments to the Manufacturer as follows: (1) a start-up fee of $\in 500,000$, $\in 250,000$ of which was to be paid at the earlier to occur of September 15, 2014 or the closing date of an initial public offering and $\in 250,000$ of which was to be paid at the time of installation and qualification of the Company's equipment at their facility, (2) related to the technology transfer, $\in 620,000$, $\in 310,000$ of which was paid subsequent to the signature of the Transfer Agreement and $\in 310,000$ of which was to be paid after the delivery of a final study report, (3) for design of a portion of the Manufacturer's facility, $\in 100,000$ was to be paid within five days of the signature of the Transfer Agreement, and (4) a $\in 300,000$ bonus fee payable in two equal installments, the first of which is due by the end of March 2015, with the remainder paid by the end of December 2015. The first $\in 150,000$ of the bonus fee payable was paid in May 2015. Additionally, the Transfer Agreement stipulated that the Company was to pay the Manufacturer an aggregate of $\in 500,000$ upon the delivery of agreed-upon levels of satisfactory

product. Further, the Company issued the Manufacturer warrants to purchase 16,666 shares of common stock with an exercise price of 90% of the initial public offering price, amended to \$6.30 in March 2015. (Note 7)

Effective February 12, 2015, March 25, 2015 and July 15, 2015 the Company entered into amendments delaying payments to the Manufacturer as follows: i) the €500,000 start-up fee was due by the end of April 2015 and has been paid during the year ended December 31, 2015, (ii) related to the technology transfer, of the remaining €310,000, €215,000 was due April 2015 and €95,000 was due June 30, 2015, both of which were paid during the year ended December 31, 2015, (iii) related to the design of a portion of the Manufacturer's facility, the payment has increased to €170,000, € 150,000 of which was due at the end of April 2015 and €20,000 was due on June 30, 2015, both of which have been paid during the year ended December 31, 2015 (iv) the fees linked to the deliverables are now due €250,000 on December 31, 2015 and €250,000 on March 31, 2016, 2015, (v) the bonus fee payable of €300,000, € 150,000 was due at the end of April 2015 and has been paid during the year ended December 31, 2015 and €150,000 due at December 31, 2015. In May 2015, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with the contract manufacturer and paid the start-up fee of €500,000 and the technology transfer fee of €215,000. In accordance with the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding, the Manufacturer will supply 400Kg of the Company's API at no cost in anticipation of the future deduction by December 2015. The final €250,000 was paid on March 29, 2016.

14

Table of Contents

In December 2015, we entered into an amendment to our technology transfer and commercial manufacturing agreement with our contract manufacturer in Italy delaying a €150,000 bonus fee payment which was originally due on December 31, 2015 to March 31, 2016. On April 4, 2016, the Company further amended the payment date to June 30, 2016.

The Company expenses the total cost of the contract ratably over the estimated life of the contract, or the total amount paid if greater. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the amortized costs exceeded amounts paid by \$170,850 and \$110,141, respectively, which are included in accrued manufacturing costs in accrued liabilities in the Company's balance sheet.

Debt Obligations

See Note 7—Debt and Warrants.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes there is no litigation pending that could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

7. Debt and Warrants

Convertible Notes and Warrants

2013 Convertible Notes

From July through September 2013, the Company issued four convertible promissory notes (collectively the "Notes") for gross aggregate proceeds of \$525,000 to various third-party lenders. The Notes bore interest at 8% per annum. The Notes automatically matured and the entire outstanding principal amount, together with accrued interest, was due and payable in cash at the earlier of July 8, 2015 (the "Maturity Date") or ten business days after the date of consummation of the initial closing of a first equity round of financing. The Company consummated a first equity round of financing prior to the Maturity Date with a pre-money valuation of greater than \$3.0 million, and, accordingly, principal and accrued interest was converted into shares of common stock at 75% of the purchase price paid by such equity investors. These notes were all converted to common stock in February 2014 upon the issuance of the convertible preferred stock. In February 2014, in connection with the first equity round of financing and issuance of the Series A convertible preferred stock, the noteholders exercised their option to convert their Notes into 207,664 shares of common stock and accrued interest was paid in cash to the noteholders. The accreted interest expense related to the discount on the Notes was \$1,443 for the period from January 1, 2014 to the conversion date of the Notes. Upon conversion, the entire remaining debt discount of \$4,071 was recorded as interest expense.

In connection with the Notes, the Company issued to the noteholders warrants, which became exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 207,664 shares of common stock as of the issuance of the first equity round of financing (the "Warrants"). The Warrants have a \$2.53 exercise price, are fully exercisable from the initial date of the first equity round of financing, and have a five-year term subsequent to that date.

2014 Convertible Notes

On June 2, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, the Company issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of \$300,000 to two accredited investors, including a convertible promissory note for \$200,000 to a board member to which Series A preferred stock was sold. These notes accrued interest at 3% per annum and automatically were to mature on June 1, 2015. Accrued interest was to be paid in cash upon maturity. Upon the closing of the IPO, the outstanding principal amount automatically converted into 53,571 shares common stock at \$5.60, as amended in March 2015. Upon issuance, the Company analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a beneficial conversion feature ("BCF") existed because the effective conversion price on issuance of the notes was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. The Company calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method and recorded a BCF of \$75,000 as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company amortized \$18,183, respectively, of the discount, which has also been recorded as interest expense.

On July 16, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, the Company issued a convertible promissory note in the principal amount of \$150,000 to an accredited investor. This note accrued interest at 3% per annum and automatically was to mature on June 1, 2015. Accrued interest was to be paid in cash upon maturity. Upon the closing of the IPO, the outstanding principal amount

automatically converted into 26,785 shares of common stock at \$5.60, as amended in March 2015. Upon issuance, the Company analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. The Company calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method and recorded a BCF of \$37,500 as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company amortized \$10,514 of the discount, which has also been recorded as interest expense.

In connection with the Transfer Agreement (Note 7) the Company issued fully vested and immediately exercisable warrants to the Manufacturer to purchase 16,666 shares of common stock at 90% of the IPO price, amended to \$6.30 in March 2015, for a period of five years. The fair value of the warrants, \$37,840, was recorded as research and development expense and additional paid-in capital in June 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$4.83, exercise price of \$4.35, term of five years, volatility of 49%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.64%.

On December 23, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, the Company issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of \$650,000 to three accredited investors, including a convertible promissory note for \$250,000 to the same board member to which the June 2, 2014 \$200,000 convertible promissory note was issued and to which Series A preferred stock was sold. These notes accrued interest at 12% per annum and became payable within thirty days following the IPO. Upon consummation of the Company's IPO, the noteholders converted the notes into 116,070 shares of common stock at a conversion price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. In connection with these notes, the Company also issued the lenders a fully vested warrant to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. These warrants entitle the noteholders to purchase 58,035 shares of common stock. The fair value of the warrants, \$147,943, was recorded as a debt discount and liability at December 23, 2014. The Company amortized \$60,548 of this discount during the three months ended March 31, 2015. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$4.59, exercise price of \$4.15, term of three years, volatility of 49%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.10%. Based on the circumstances, the value derived using the Black-Scholes model approximated that which would be obtained using a lattice model. The debt discount was be recorded as interest expense over the one hundred ninety days from issuance of the notes through their first maturity date of July 31, 2015, beginning in January 2015. The Company analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. The Company calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method. A BCF of \$502,057 has been recorded as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company amortized \$205,407 of the BCF which has also been recorded as interest expense.

2015 Convertible Notes

In February 2015, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to two accredited investors in the aggregate principal amount of \$250,000. These notes were issued pursuant to the convertible note purchase agreement dated December 23, 2014. Principal and interest of \$103,912 was paid in May 2015 for \$100,000 of these notes.

The Company's remaining outstanding note of \$150,000 is payable to Serious Change II LP at an effective simple interest rate of 12% per annum, and is due in full on July 31, 2016. The note is included in notes payable in the Company's balance sheet. The Company has accrued interest of \$20,367, which is included in accrued liabilities in the Company's balance sheet. The note remains outstanding as Serious Change II LP elected not to convert the note as per the terms of the agreement.

In March 2015, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Dechra Pharmaceuticals PLC ("Dechra"). In connection therewith, Dechra paid the Company \$1.0 million. At March 31, 2015, the Company had recorded this amount as a loan advance on the balance sheet. In April 2015, Dechra purchased \$1.0 million of convertible promissory notes from the Company, the terms of which provided that such notes were to be converted into shares of the Company's common stock upon the closing of an IPO at a conversion price of \$5.60 per share. In connection with the purchase of the notes, the Company issued Dechra a warrant to purchase 89,285 shares at \$5.60 per share, which expires December 31, 2017. The notes accrued simple interest of 12% per annum and, upon consummation of the Company's IPO in May 2015, converted into 178,571 shares of the Company's common stock. The Company analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. The Company calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method. A BCF of for the full face value was recorded as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. The Company amortized the entire BCF of \$1.0 million by the end of May 2015 and recorded the amortized amounts as interest expense through that period.

16

Table of Contents

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the convertible notes payable obligations were as follows:

	N	Iarch 31, 2016	December 31, 2015		
Notes payable	\$	150,000	\$	150,000	
Unamortized note discount		_		_	
Net debt obligation	\$	150,000	\$	150,000	

Interest expense on the convertible notes payable was as follows:

	arch 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Nominal interest	\$ 4,488	\$ 29,893
Amortization of debt discount	_	361,476
	\$ 4,488	\$ 391,369

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, interest payable on convertible notes payable was \$80,487 and \$75,999, respectively.

On October 30, 2014, the Company entered into a standby bridge financing agreement with two lenders, which was amended and restated on December 3, 2014, which provided a loan commitment in the aggregate principal amount of \$1.0 million (the "Bridge"). Proceeds to the Company were net of a \$100,000 debt discount under the terms of the Bridge and net of \$104,000 of debt issuance costs. This debt discount and debt issuance costs were recorded as interest expense using the effective interest method, over the six month term of the Bridge. The Bridge became payable upon the IPO. The Bridge was repaid in May 2015, including interest thereon in an amount of \$1,321,600. In connection with the Bridge, the lenders were granted warrants to purchase that number of shares of the Company's common stock determined by dividing \$1.0 million by the exercise price of 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. The fair value of the warrants, \$505,348, was originally recorded as a debt discount and liability at December 3, 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$5.01, exercise price of \$5.23, term of five years, volatility of 63%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.61%. Based on the circumstances, the value derived using the Black-Scholes model approximated that which would be obtained using a lattice model. The debt discount was recorded as interest expense over the six month term of the Bridge. Of the aggregate debt discount of \$605,348 (warrants and original \$100,000 discount), \$521,291 was recorded as interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2015. Additional financing costs of \$104,000 were incurred related to the Bridge and deferred on closing. These were recognized as interest expense over the six-month term of the Bridge using the effective interest method. The Company amortized the remaining \$86,667 of these deferred financing charges by the end of May 2015 was recorded the amortized amounts as interest e

The Company fully extinguished the debt in May of 2015.

Interest expense on the notes payable-bridge loans was as follows:

	March 2016		March 31, 2015		
Nominal interest	\$		\$	57,178	
Amortization of debt discount		_		305,272	
Repayment premium		_		129,659	
Debt issuance costs		_		49,555	
	\$		\$	541,664	

17

Table of Contents

Standby Line of Credit

In August 2014, the Company entered into a standby line of credit with an accredited investor for up to \$1.0 million pursuant to a Line of Credit and Loan Agreement dated August 26, 2014. In connection with the entry into the standby line of credit, the Company issued the lender a fully vested warrant to purchase 33,333 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015, which expires in August 2016. The fair value of the warrants, \$114,300, was recorded as interest expense and additional paid-in capital in August 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$8.00, exercise price of \$6.40, term of two years, volatility of 52%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 0.52%. The line of credit expired on March 31, 2015 and there have been no drawdowns under the facility.

Long-term Debt

In August 2015, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with a lender for up to \$8.0 million, which provided for an initial loan commitment of \$6.0 million. The loan agreement requires the Company to maintain \$4.5 million of the proceeds in cash, which may be reduced or eliminated on the achievement of certain milestones. An additional \$2.0 million is available contingent on the achievement of certain further milestones. The agreement has a term of three years, with interest only payments through February 29, 2016. Thereafter, principal and interest payments will be made with an interest rate of 9.9%. Additionally, there will be a balloon payment of \$560,000 on August 1, 2018. This amount is being recognized over the term of the loan agreement and the effective interest rate, considering the balloon payment, is 15.0%. Proceeds to the Company were net of a \$134,433 debt discount under the terms of the loan agreement. This debt discount is being recorded as interest expense, using the interest method, over the term of the loan agreement. Under the agreement, the Company is entitled to prepay principal and accrued interest upon five days prior notice to the lender. In the event of prepayment, the Company is obligated to pay a prepayment charge. If such prepayment is made during any of the first twelve months of the loan agreement, the prepayment charge will be (a) during such time as the Company is required to maintain a minimum cash balance, 2% of the minimum cash balance amount plus 3% of the difference between the amount being prepaid and the minimum cash balance, and (b) after such time as the Company is no longer required to maintain a minimum cash balance, 3% of the amount being prepaid. If such prepayment is made during any time after the first twelve months of the loan agreement, 1% of the amount being prepaid.

On April 21, 2016, the loan and security was amended upon which the Company repaid \$1.5 million of the debt out of restricted cash. The amendment modified the repayment amortization schedule providing a four month period of interest only payments for the period from May through August 2016.

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the net long-term debt obligation was as follows:

	March 31, 2016	December 31, 2015
Debt and unpaid accrued end-of-term payment	\$ 6,013,753	\$ 6,115,797
Unamortized note discount	(88,224)	(106,635)
Unamortized debt issuance costs	(176,474)	(206,235)
Net debt obligation	\$ 5,749,055	\$ 5,802,927
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 2,119,730	\$ 1,707,899
Long-term debt, net of discount	3,629,325	\$ 4,095,028
Total	\$ 5,749,055	\$ 5,802,927

Future principal payments under the long-term debt as of March 31, 2016 are as follows:

Years ending December 31 (except 2016 which is the nine months ending December 31)	Amount
2016 April through December	\$ 1,653,760
2017	2,409,780
2018	1,757,720
Total future principal payments	\$ 5,821,260
2018 end-of-term payment	\$ 560,000
	\$ 6,381,260
Less: unaccreted end-of-term payment at March 31, 2016	\$ (367,507)
Debt and unpaid accrued end-of-term payment	\$ 6,013,753

The obligation at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 includes an end-of-term payment of \$560,000, which accretes over the life of the loan as interest expense. As a result of the debt discount and the end-of-term payment, the effective interest rate for the loan differs from the contractual rate.

Interest expense on the long-term debt was as follows:

	N	1arch 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Nominal Interest	\$	148,626	\$ _
Amortization of debt discount		18,411	\$ _
Accretion of end-of-term payment		76,696	\$ _
Debt issuance costs		36,016	
	\$	279,749	\$ _

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, interest payable on long-term debt was \$49,626 and \$51,150, respectively.

At the IPO, the Company's outstanding warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock were all converted to warrants to purchase common stock.

The Company's warrant activity is summarized as follows:

	March 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Warrants outstanding January 1	748,872	494,267
Warrants issued	_	111,605
Warrants outstanding March 31	748,872	605,872

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In February, April and May of 2014, the Company issued 3,015,902 shares of convertible preferred stock in exchange for \$6,777,338. The redemption value of the convertible preferred stock was \$9.0 million. The differences between the respective redemption values/liquidation preference and carrying values are being accreted over the period from the date of issuance to the earliest possible redemption date, February 2017. The Company has recorded accretion of \$177,297 for the three months ended March 31, 2015.

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock during the year ended December 31, 2014 were \$119,097 which have been recorded as a reduction to the carrying amounts of convertible preferred stock and are being accreted to the carrying value of the applicable preferred stock to the redemption date. The Company has recorded accretion of \$9,789 for the three months ended March 31, 2015.

On May 18, 2015, the Company completed its IPO. In connection with the IPO, the Company's 3,015,902 outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 2,010,596 shares of common stock.

19

Table of Contents

The Preferred Stock was classified outside of stockholders' (deficit) in accordance with authoritative guidance for the classification and measurement of potentially redeemable securities.

9. Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

The Company's second amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 50,000,000 shares of common stock \$0.0001 par value. The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held at all meetings of stockholders. The number of authorized shares of common stock may be increased or decreased by the affirmative vote of the holders of shares of capital stock of the Company representing a majority of the votes represented by all shares (including Preferred Stock) entitled to vote.

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows:

	March 31, 2016	December 31, 2015
Options issued and outstanding	894,766	919,506
Options available for grant	269,331	106,833
RSUs issued and outstanding	20,789	55,536

Warrants issued and outstanding	748,872	748,872
Convertible notes	26,785	26,785
Total	1,960,543	1,857,532

Preferred Stock

The Company's second amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock \$0.0001 par value. No shares of preferred stock were issued or outstanding at March 31, 2016 or December 31, 2015.

10. Stock Incentive Plans

2013 Equity Incentive Plan

Effective November 1, 2013, the Company's board of directors and sole stockholder adopted the Jaguar Animal Health, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan"). The 2013 Plan allows the Company's board of directors to grant stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock unit awards to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had reserved 300,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under the 2013 Plan. In April 2014, the board of directors amended the 2013 Plan to increase the shares reserved for issuance to 847,533 shares. Following the effective date of the IPO and after effectiveness of any grants under the 2013 Plan that were contingent on the IPO, no additional stock awards will be granted under the 2013 Plan. Outstanding grants continue to be exercisable, however any unissued shares under the plan and any forfeitures of outstanding options do not rollover to the 2014 Stock Incentive Plan.

2014 Stock Incentive Plan

Effective May 12, 2015, the Company adopted the Jaguar Animal Health, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan ("2014 Plan"). The 2014 Plan provides for the grant of options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to eligible employees, directors and consultants to purchase the Company's common stock. The Company reserved 333,333 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to the 2014 Plan. The Company added 162,498 shares to the plan in accordance with the Plan that provides for automatic share increases on the first day of each fiscal year in the amount of 2% of the outstanding number of shares of the Company's common stock on last day of the preceding calendar year. The 2014 Plan replaces the 2013 Plan except that all outstanding options under the 2013 Plan remain outstanding until exercised, cancelled or until they expire.

In July 2015, the Company amended the 2014 Plan reserving an additional 550,000 shares under the plan contingent upon approval by the Company's stockholders at the next stockholders meeting, which is scheduled for June 14, 2016.

20

Table of Contents

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs")

The following table summarizes incentive plan activity for the three months ended March 31, 2016:

	Shares Available for Grant	Stock Options Outstanding	RSUs Outstanding	Weighted Average Stock Option Exercise Price		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option		Average Stock Option Exercise Price		Average Stock Option		Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (Years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Combined Incentive Plan Balance—December 31, 2015	106,833	919,506	55,536	\$	3.87	8.81	\$ _																		
Q1 2016 2013 Equity Incentive Plan Activity:																									
Options Cancelled		(24,740)		\$	7.00																				
RSUs vested and released			(27,768)																						
RSUs Cancelled			(6,979)																						
Q1 2016 2014 Stock Incentive Plan Activity:																									
Additional shares authorized	162,498																								
Combined Incentive Plan Balance—March 31, 2016	269,331	894,766	20,789	\$	3.78	8.28																			
Options vested and exercisable—March 31, 2016		475,007		\$	3.95	8.35	\$ _																		
Options vested and expected to vest—March 31, 2016		729,357		\$	3.77	8.53	\$ _																		

No options were granted in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.

The number of options that vested in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was 61,944 and 227,918, respectively. The grant date fair value of options vested was \$92,557 and \$121,672 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

No options were exercised in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. The intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the market value as of December 31, 2015 and the weighted average exercise price of shares exercised.

The Company granted RSUs in 2014 and 2015 under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. The units granted vest upon the occurrence of both a liquidity event and satisfaction of the service-based requirement. The time-based vesting provides that 50% of the RSU will vest on January 1, 2016 and the remaining 50% vest on July 1, 2017. The Company began recording stock-based compensation expense relating to the RSU grants effective May 18, 2015, the date of the Company's initial public offering, and the date the liquidity condition was met. The stock-based compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value which is the equivalent to the fair market value on the date of grant, and is amortized over the vesting period using the straight-line method, net of estimated forfeitures. On January 1, 2016, the Company issued 17,546 shares of its common stock in exchange for 27,768 vested and released RSUs, net of 10,172 RSU shares used to pay withholding taxes.

Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and RSUs for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, and are included in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows:

March 31, March 31,

	2016	2015
Research and development expense	\$ 25,333	\$ 17,664
Sales and marketing expense	8,681	_
General and administrative expense	69,528	34,953
Total	\$ 103,542	\$ 52,617

As of March 31, 2016, the Company had \$510,192 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for options outstanding, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.85 years. As of March 31, 2016, the Company had \$61,592 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for outstanding RSUs which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.25 years.

21

Table of Contents

The estimated grant-date fair value of employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. There were no grants to Company employees in the three months ended March 31, 2016 or 2015.

The estimated grant-date fair value of non-employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Although there were no grants to non-employees in the three months ended March 31, 2016 or 2015, the option granted on September 8, 2015 was revalued using the following assumptions:

	March 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Weighted-average volatility	78.51%	0%
Weighted-average expected term (years)	9.44	0
Risk-free interest rate	1.74%	0%
Expected dividend yield	_	

11. Related Party Transactions

The Company is a majority-owned subsidiary of Napo. Additionally, Lisa A. Conte, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is also the interim Chief Executive Officer of Napo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company has total outstanding liabilities to Napo at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 as follows:

	1	March 31, 2016	December 31, 2015
Due to/(from) Napo	\$	(6,008)	\$ (6,008)
Royalty payable to Napo		3,462	2,809
License Fee payable to Napo		_	425,000
Total	\$	(2,546)	\$ 421,801

12. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015:

	March 31, 2016					March 31, 2016			March 31, 2015
Net loss attributable to common shareholders	\$	(3,984,204)	\$	(4,124,469)					
Shares used to compute net loss per common share, basic and diluted		9,307,354		2,874,330					
Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders, basic and diluted	\$	(0.43)	\$	(1.43)					

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding for the period. Common stock equivalents are only included when their effect is dilutive. The Company's potentially dilutive securities which include stock options, convertible preferred stock and common stock warrants have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as they would be anti-dilutive. For all periods presented, there is no difference in the number of shares used to compute basic and diluted shares outstanding due to the Company's net loss position.

22

Table of Contents

The following outstanding common stock equivalents have been excluded from diluted net loss per common share for the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

	March 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Convertible preferred stock		2,010,596
Options	894,766	563,770
Warrants to purchase common stock	748,872	605,873
Restricted stock units	20,789	54,052
Total	1,664,427	3,234,291

13. 401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering all employees. There were no employer contributions to the plan from plan inception through March 31, 2016.

14. Subsequent Events

The Company completed an evaluation of the impact of subsequent events through May 10, 2016, the date these financial statements were issued.

Long-term Debt

As more fully described in Note 7, on April 21, 2016, the loan and security was amended upon which the Company repaid \$1.5 million of the debt out of restricted cash. The amendment modified the repayment amortization schedule providing a four month period of interest only payments for the period from May through August 2016.

23

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and with our audited financial statements and the related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The discussion and analysis below includes certain forward-looking statements related to our research and development and commercialization of our products in the U.S., our future financial condition and results of operations and potential for profitability, the sufficiency of our cash resources, our ability to obtain additional equity or debt financing, if needed, possible partnering or other strategic opportunities for the development of our products, as well as other statements related to the progress and timing of product development, present or future licensing, collaborative or financing arrangements or that otherwise relate to future periods, which are all forward-looking statements as defined by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements represent, among other things, the expectations, beliefs, plans and objectives of management and/or assumptions underlying or judgments concerning the future financial performance and other matters discussed in this document. The words "may," "will," "should," "plan," "believe," "estimate," "intend," "anticipate," "project," and "expect" and similar expressions are intended to connote forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements involve certain risks, uncertainties and other factors described in our Prospectus, that could cause our actual commercialization efforts, financial condition and results of operations, and business prospects and opportunities to differ materially from these expressed in, or implied by, those forward-looking statements. We caution investors not to place significant reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in this report. These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of the date of this report (unless another date is indicated), and we undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are an animal health company focused on developing and commercializing first-in-class gastrointestinal products for companion and production animals, foals, and high value horses. Canalevia is our lead prescription drug product candidate, intended for the treatment of various forms of diarrhea in dogs. We achieved statistically significant results in a canine proof-of-concept study completed in February 2015, supporting the conclusion that Canalevia treatment is superior to placebo, with 91% of the Canalevia-treated dogs achieving a formed stool during the study versus 50% of the placebo-treated dogs. As we announced in December 2015, the pivotal clinical field study to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of Canalevia for acute diarrhea in dogs is underway. Jaguar has received Minor Use in a Major Species (MUMS) designation for Canalevia for Chemotherapy-Induced Diarrhea (CID) in dogs, which provides an opportunity to shorten the timeframe to commercialization. We also completed submission of all required major technical sections for the conditional approval application for Canalevia for chemotherapy-induced diarrhea, or CID, in dogs, to the FDA for phased review. Canalevia is a caninespecific formulation of crofelemer, an active pharmaceutical ingredient isolated and purified from the Croton lechleri tree, which is sustainably harvested. A human-specific formulation of crofelemer, Fulyzaq, was approved by the FDA in 2012 for the symptomatic relief of noninfectious diarrhea in adults with HIV/AIDS on antiretroviral therapy. Members of our management team developed crofelemer while at Napo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Napo), which was Jaguar's parent company until May 13, 2015. Neonorm Calf and Neonorm Foal are our lead non-prescription products. The reception among users of Neonorm Foal, an anti-diarrheal product we launched for newborn horses early this year, has been overwhelmingly positive. The clinically-proven performance of Neonorm Foal, in combination with our heightened understanding of market needs within the global equine space, is driving our increased focus on equine product development. SB-300 is Jaguar's prescription drug product candidate for the treatment of gastrointestinal ulcers in horses. SB-300 is a pharmaceutical formulation of a standardized botanical extract. Neonorm is a standardized botanical extract derived from the Croton lechleri tree. We launched Neonorm Calf in the United States at the end of 2014 for preweaned dairy calves, and as of March 1, 2016, we have shipped \$638,000 of the product to distributors. Canalevia and Neonorm are distinct products that are formulated to address specific species and market channels. We have filed nine investigational new animal drug applications, or INADs, with the FDA and intend to develop species-specific formulations of Neonorm in six additional target species, and Canalevia for both cats and dogs.

Since inception, we have been primarily focused on designing and conducting studies of Canalevia to treat multiple preselected and distinct types of diarrhea in dogs and for Neonorm to improve gut health and normalize stool formation in preweaned dairy calves and foals. We are also focused on developing a full suite of products to support and improve gastrointestinal health in foals and adult horses. Gastrointestinal conditions such as acute diarrhea, ulcers and diarrhea associated with acute colitis can be extremely debilitating for horses, and present a significant economic and emotional burden for veterinarians and owners around the world. A portion of our activities has also been focused on other efforts associated with being a recently formed company, including securing necessary intellectual property, recruiting management and key employees and initial financing activities.

In May 2015, we completed the initial public offering of our common stock. In connection with our initial public offering, we issued 2,860,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of \$7.00 per share. Our shares of common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market on May 13, 2015. As a result of the initial public offering, we received approximately \$15.9 million in

net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$1.2 million and offering expenses of \$3.3 million, including a \$0.4 million non-cash expense.

In September 2015, we entered into a four year manufacture and supply agreement, or Supply Agreement, with a contract manufacturer in India for the manufacture and supply of active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API. For each calendar year, we and the manufacturer will agree to a minimum annual quantity that we will purchase.

In October 2015, we entered into a formulation development and manufacturing contract with a manufacturer, whereby the manufacturer will provide enteric-coated tablets to us for use in animals.

In December 2015, we hired a new Chief Financial Officer and entered into an employment agreement.

In December 2015, we entered into an amendment to our technology transfer and commercial manufacturing agreement with our contract manufacturer in Italy delaying a €150,000 bonus fee payment which was originally due on December 31, 2015 to March 31, 2016. On April 4, 2016, the Company further amended the payment date to June 30, 2016.

In December 2015, we met benchmarks which reduced our restricted cash balance by \$1.5 million from \$4.5 million to \$3.0 million as required by Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., ("Hercules Technology"), pursuant to the Loan and Security Agreement dated August 18, 2015, between us, certain of our subsidiaries, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto as lenders and Hercules Technology. Beginning March 2016, the restricted cash balance began to be reduced by amounts equal to principal payments on the debt.

In December 2015, we paid a license fee of \$500,000 to Napo pursuant to the Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated August 6, 2014 as amended, between Napo and us.

In February 2016, we hired a Chief Veterinary Officer and entered into an employment agreement.

In February 8, 2016, we completed a secondary public offering of its common stock. In connection with this secondary public offering, we issued and sold 2,000,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of \$2.50 per share. As a result of the secondary public offering, the Company received \$4.1 million in net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$373,000 and offering expenses of \$497,000.

In April 2016, the Hercules Technology loan and security was amended upon which the Company repaid \$1.5 million of the debt out of restricted cash. The amendment modified the repayment amortization schedule providing a four month period of interest only payments for the period from May through August 2016.

Financial Operations Overview

We were incorporated in June 2013 in Delaware. Napo formed our company to develop and commercialize animal health products. Prior to our incorporation, the only activities of Napo related to animal health were limited to the retention of consultants to evaluate potential strategic alternatives. We were previously a majority-owned subsidiary of Napo. However, following the closing of our May 2015 initial public offering, we are no longer majority-owned by Napo.

We have not generated any material revenue to date and expect to continue to incur significant research and development and other expenses. Our net loss attributable to common stockholders was \$4.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, and \$16.6 million and \$9.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. As of March 31, 2016, we had total stockholders' equity of \$4.6 million and cash and cash equivalents of \$7.2 million. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future as we expand our product development activities, seek necessary approvals for our product candidates, conduct species-specific formulation studies for our non-prescription products, establish API manufacturing capabilities and begin commercialization activities. As a result, we expect to experience increased expenditures for 2016.

Revenue

We sell our primary commercial product Neonorm to distributors under agreements that may provide distributor price adjustments and rights of return under certain circumstances. Until we have sufficient sales history and pipeline visibility, we will defer revenue and costs of distributor sales until products are sold by the distributor to the distributor's customers. Revenue recognition depends on notification either directly from the distributor that product has been sold to the distributor's customer, when we have access to the data. Deferred revenue on shipments to distributors will reflect the estimated effects of distributor price

25

Table of Contents

adjustments, if any, and the estimated amount of gross margin expected to be realized when the distributor sells through product purchased from the Company. Accounts receivable from distributors will be recognized and included in deferred revenue when we ship product to the distributor. We relieve inventory and recognize revenue typically upon shipment by the distributor to their customer. While we did not have revenue in the year ended December 31, 2014, we did recognize \$258,381 in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015, and \$38,146 in the three months ended March 31, 2016.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue expenses consist of costs to manufacture, package and distribute Neonorm that distributors have sold through to their customers.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses consist primarily of clinical and contract manufacturing expense, personnel and related benefit expense, stock-based compensation expense, employee travel expense, reforestation expenses and expenses attributable to services received from Napo under the Service

Agreement. Clinical and contract manufacturing expense consists primarily of costs to conduct stability, safety and efficacy studies, and manufacturing startup expenses at an outsourced API provider in Italy.

We typically use our employee and infrastructure resources across multiple development programs. We track outsourced development costs by prescription drug product candidate and non-prescription product but do not allocate personnel or other internal costs related to development to specific programs or development compounds.

The timing and amount of our research and development expenses will depend largely upon the outcomes of current and future trials for our prescription drug product candidates as well as the related regulatory requirements, the outcomes of current and future species-specific formulation studies for our non-prescription products, manufacturing costs and any costs associated with the advancement of our line extension programs. We cannot determine with certainty the duration and completion costs of the current or future development activities.

The duration, costs and timing of trials, formulation studies and development of our prescription drug and non-prescription products will depend on a variety of factors, including:

- the scope, rate of progress, and expense of our ongoing, as well as any additional clinical trials, formulation studies and other research and development activities;
- future clinical trial and formulation study results;
- potential changes in government regulations; and
- · the timing and receipt of any regulatory approvals.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of a prescription drug product candidate or non-prescription product could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with our development activities.

We expect research and development expense to increase significantly as we add personnel, commence additional clinical studies and other activities to develop our prescription drug product candidates and non-prescription products.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel and related benefit expense, direct sales and marketing expense, employee travel expense, and management consulting expense. We currently incur sales and marketing expenses to promote Neonorm sales.

We expect sales and marketing expense to increase significantly as we develop and commercialize new products and grow our existing Neonorm market. We will need to add sales and marketing headcount to promote the sales of existing and new products.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related benefit expense, stock-based compensation expense, employee travel expense, legal and accounting fees, rent and facilities expense, and management consulting expense.

26

Table of Contents

We expect general and administrative expense to increase in order to enable us to effectively manage the overall growth of the business. This will include adding headcount, enhancing information systems and potentially expanding corporate facilities.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interest on convertible promissory notes, the standby bridge financing commitment and the loan and security agreement. It also includes interest expense and the amortization of a beneficial conversion feature related to convertible promissory notes issued in June and December 2014.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015

The following table summarizes the Company's results of operations with respect to the items set forth in such table for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 together with the change in such items in dollars and as a percentage:

	Three-months Ended March 31,			Variance		
	 2016	2015	\$		%	
		(In thousands of \$)				
Revenue	\$ 38	\$ 62	\$	(24)	(38.7)%	
Operating Expenses						
Cost of revenue	18	34		(16)	(47.1)%	
Research and development expense	1,752	1,423		329	23.1%	
Sales and marketing expense	165	190		(25)	(13.2)%	
General and administrative expense	1,788	1,094		694	63.4%	
Total operating expenses	 3,723	2,741		982	35.8%	
Loss from operations	 (3,685)	(2,679)	(1,	006)	37.6%	
Interest expense, net	(284)	(933)		649	(69.6)%	

Other income	(15)	3	(18)	(600.0)%
Change in fair value of warrants	_	(329)	329	(100.0)%
Net loss and comprehensive loss	\$ (3,984)	\$ (3,938)	\$ (46)	1.2%

Revenue and Cost of Revenue

Revenue and related cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2016 reflects sell-through of our Neonorm Calf and Neonorm Foal products to our distributors. We defer revenue and cost of revenue until products are sold by the distributor to the distributor's end customers and recognition will depend on notification from the distributor that product has been sold to the distributor's end customer.

27

Table of Contents

Research and Development Expense

The following table presents the components of research and development expense for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 together with the change in such components in dollars and as a percentage:

Three-months Ended March 31.				Variano	ce .	
-			2015		\$	%
		(In the	ousands of \$)			
\$	662	\$	403	\$	259	64.3%
	32		_		32	0.0%
	108		57		51	89.5%
	703		823		(120)	(14.6)%
	26		18		8	44.4%
	221		122		99	81.1%
\$	1,752	\$	1,423	\$	329	23.1%
	¢	\$ 662 32 108 703 26 221	March 31, 2016 (In the \$ 662 \$ 32 108 703 26 221	March 31, 2016 (In thousands of \$) \$ 662 \$ 403 32 — 108 57 703 823 26 18 221 122	March 31, 2016 (In thousands of \$) \$ 662 \$ 403 \$ 32 — 108 57 703 823 26 18 221 122	March 31, Variance 2016 2015 \$ (In thousands of \$) \$ 662 \$ 403 \$ 259 32 — 32 108 57 51 703 823 (120) 26 18 8 221 122 99

We plan to increase our research and development expense as we continue developing our drug candidates.

We increased Research and development expense \$329,000 from \$1.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015 to \$1.7 million for the same period in 2016. We added headcount to enable us to make significant progress in the development of certain drug candidates that resulted in the increase of \$259,000 in personnel and related benefit expenses, while carefully controlling spend in clinical trails and contract manufacturing.

We also increased our reforestation efforts, resulting in increased expense of \$32,000 in the three months ended March 31, 2016. We value and take to heart the responsibility to replenish trees consumed in order to extract the raw material to manufacture our primary commercial product and the drug product for use in clinical trials.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expense for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted of personnel costs, direct marketing, travel and consulting expenses. We plan to expand sales and marketing spend to promote our Neonorm products.

General and Administrative Expense

The following table presents the components of general and administrative expense for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 together with the change in such components in dollars and as a percentage:

	Three-months Ended March 31,			Variano	ra.	
		2016	шэі,	2015	 \$	<u>%</u>
			(In th	ousands of \$)	-	
Personnel and related benefits	\$	685	\$	466	\$ 219	47.0%
Accounting fees		121		202	(81)	(40.1)%
Third-party consulting fees and Napo service fees		122		50	72	144.0%
Legal fees		187		144	43	29.9%
Travel		105		78	27	34.6%
Stock-based compensation		70		35	35	100.0%
Rent and lease expense		101		_	101	0.0%
Public company expenses		98		_	98	0.0%
Other		300		119	181	152.1%
Total	\$	1,789	\$	1,094	\$ 695	63.5%

We expect to incur additional general and administrative expense as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities and other administrative and professional services.

Our general and administrative expenses increased \$695,000 from \$1.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015 to \$1.8 million for the same period in 2016. In 2015, we became a public company and added headcount that has resulted in increases of \$219,000 in personnel expense, \$35,000 in stock-based compensation expense, and \$27,000 in travel expense. We incurred direct public company expenses of \$98,000 in the three months ended March 31, 2016 primarily for public and investor relations expense, NASDAQ fees, printer fees for SEC filings, and board of directors expenses. We controlled our professional services expenses, reducing our audit fees by \$81,000, while limiting increases to legal fees and consulting services to 43,000 and 72,000, respectively. Rent expense increased \$62,000 to \$101,000 as a result of our moving into new facilities to accommodate the added headcount (rent for office space in the three months ended March 31, 2015 was \$39,000 and is included in the "other" category). Other expenses all other expenses, including insurance costs also increased as a result of becoming a public company in 2015.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

We have an accumulated deficit of \$29.7 million as a result of incurring net losses since our inception as we have not generated significant revenue through the current fiscal quarter. Our net loss and comprehensive loss was \$801,000 for the period from inception to December 31, 2013, \$8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, \$16.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, and \$4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016. We expect to continue to incur additional losses through the end of fiscal year 2016 and in future years due to expected significant expenses for toxicology, safety and efficacy clinical trials of our products and product candidates, for establishing contract manufacturing capabilities, and for the commercialization of one or more of our product candidates, if approved.

We had cash and cash equivalents of \$7.2 million as of March 31, 2016 compared to \$7.7 million as of December 31, 2015. We do not believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for the next 12 months. Our independent registered public accounting firm has included an explanatory paragraph in its audit report included in our Form 10-K regarding our assessment of substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

To date, we have funded our operations primarily through the issuance of equity securities, short-term convertible promissory notes, and long-term debt, in addition to sales of Neonorm, our commercial product:

- In 2013, we received \$400 from the issuance of 2,666,666 shares of common stock to our parent Napo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We also received \$519,000 of net cash from the issuance of convertible promissory notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$525,000. These notes were all converted to common stock in 2014.
- In 2014, we received \$6.7 million in proceeds from the issuance of convertible preferred stock. Effective as of the closing of our initial public offering, the 3,015,902 shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into 2,010,596 shares of common stock. Following our initial public offering, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.
- · In 2014, we received \$1.1 million from the issuance of convertible promissory notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$1.1 million. These notes were converted to common stock upon the effectiveness of the initial public offering in May of 2015. In August 2014, we entered into a standby line of credit with an individual, who is an accredited investor, for up to \$1.0 million. To date, we had not made any drawdowns under this facility. Also, in October of 2014, as amended and restated in December 2014, we entered into a \$1.0 million standby bridge loan which was repaid in 2015.
- · In 2015, we received \$1.25 million in exchange for \$1.25 million of convertible promissory notes, of which \$1.0 million was converted to common stock in 2015, and \$100,000 was repaid in 2015. The remaining \$150,000 remains outstanding.
- · In May 2015, we received net proceeds of \$15.9 million upon the closing of our initial public offering, gross proceeds of \$20.0 million (2,860,000 shares at \$7.00 per share) net of \$1.2 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and \$3.3 million of offering expenses, including \$0.4 million of non-cash expense. These shares began trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market on May 13, 2015.

29

Table of Contents

- · In 2015, we received net proceeds of \$5.9 million from the issuance of long-term debt. We entered into a loan and security agreement with a lender for up to \$8.0 million, which provided for an initial loan commitment of \$6.0 million. Under the loan agreement we are required to maintain \$4.5 million of the proceeds in cash, which amount may be reduced or eliminated on the achievement of certain milestones. An additional \$2.0 million is available contingent on the achievement of certain further milestones. The agreement has a term of three years, with interest only payments through February 29, 2016. Thereafter, principal and interest payments will be made with an interest rate of 9.9%. Additionally, there will be a balloon interest payment of \$560,000 on August 1, 2018. This amount is being recognized over the term of the loan agreement and the effective interest rate, considering the balloon payment, is 15.0%. Our proceeds are net of a \$134,433 debt discount under the terms of such agreement.
- · In 2014 and 2015, we received \$24,000 and \$531,000, respectively, in cash from sales of Neonorm to distributors.
- \cdot $\,$ In 2015, we received approximately \$13,000 in proceeds from the exercise of stock options.
- · In 2016, we received net proceeds of \$4.1 million upon the closing of our follow-on public offering, reflecting gross proceeds of \$5.0 million (2.0 million shares at \$2.50 per share) net of \$373,000 of underwriting discounts and commissions and \$497,000 of estimated offering expenses.

We expect our expenditures will continue to increase as we continue our efforts to develop animal health products, expand our commercially available Neonorm product and continue development of Canalevia in the near term. We have agreed to pay Indena S.p.A. fees of approximately $\[\in \]$ 2.1 million under a memorandum of understanding relating to the establishment of our commercial API manufacturing arrangement in Italy. As of March 2016, we have paid $\[\in \]$ 1.95 million of the $\[\in \]$ 2.1 million and will remit the remaining $\[\in \]$ 150,000 in June of 2016.

We do not believe our current capital is sufficient to fund our operating plan through December 2016. We will need to seek additional funds sooner than planned, through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, such as strategic collaborations. Such financing may result in dilution to stockholders, imposition of debt covenants and repayment obligations or other restrictions that may affect our business. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. We may also not be successful in entering into partnerships that include payment of upfront licensing fees for our products and product candidates for markets outside the United States, where appropriate. If we do not generate upfront fees from any anticipated arrangements, it would have a negative effect on our operating plan.

Cash Flows for three months ended March 31, 2016 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2015

The following table shows a summary of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015:

	Th	Three-months Ended March 31,				
	2016		2015			
	(i	n thousands of \$))			
Total cash used in operations	\$ (4	1,528) \$	(1,339)			
Cash Flows from Financing Activities		93	_			
Total Cash Provided by Financing Activities	3	3,951	1,240			
	\$	(483) \$	(99)			

Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, cash used in operating activities resulted from our net loss of \$4.0 million, offset by non-cash accretion of debt discounts and debt issuance costs of \$131,000, stock-based compensation of \$104,000, depreciation expense of \$8,000, net of changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$786,000.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 cash used in operating activities was the result of our net loss of \$4.0 million, offset by non-cash accretion of debt discounts and debt issuance costs of \$846,000 and non-cash revaluation of warrant liability of \$329,000, net of changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$1.4 million.

Cash Provided by Investing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, cash provided by investing activities primarily consisted of \$179,000 of a release of restricted cash that resulted from principal payments on our long-term debt, net of \$86,000 in purchases of property and equipment,

30

Table of Contents

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, cash provided by financing activities primarily consisted \$4.1 million in net cash received in our secondary public offering, net of commissions and certain deferred offering costs, offset by a \$179,000 repayment of principal related to our long-term debt.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, cash provided by financing activities primarily consisted of \$250,000 gross proceeds from the issuance of convertible promissory notes and warrants to purchase common stock and a \$1.0 million loan advance for a non-binding letter of intent.

Description of Indebtedness

Standby Lines of Credit, Convertible Notes and Warrant Issuances

Convertible Notes and Warrants

2013 Convertible Notes

From July through September 2013, we issued four convertible promissory notes (collectively the "Notes") for gross aggregate proceeds of \$525,000 to various third-party lenders. The Notes bore interest at 8% per annum. The Notes automatically matured and the entire outstanding principal amount, together with accrued interest, was due and payable in cash at the earlier of July 8, 2015 (the "Maturity Date") or ten business days after the date of consummation of the initial closing of a first equity round of financing. We consummated a first equity round of financing prior to the Maturity Date with a pre-money valuation of greater than \$3.0 million, and, accordingly, principal and accrued interest was converted into shares of common stock at 75% of the purchase price paid by such equity investors. These notes were all converted to common stock in February 2014 upon the issuance of the convertible preferred stock. In February 2014, in connection with the first equity round of financing and issuance of the Series A convertible preferred stock, the noteholders exercised their option to convert their Notes into 207,664 shares of common stock and accrued interest was paid in cash to the noteholders. The accreted interest expense related to the discount on the Notes was \$1,443 for the period from January 1, 2014 to the conversion date of the Notes. Upon conversion, the entire remaining debt discount of \$4,071 was recorded as interest expense.

In connection with the Notes, we issued to the noteholders warrants, which became exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 207,664 shares of common stock as of the issuance of the first equity round of financing (the "Warrants"). The Warrants have a \$2.53 exercise price, are fully exercisable from the initial date of the first equity round of financing, and have a five-year term subsequent to that date.

2014 Convertible Notes

On June 2, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, we issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of \$300,000 to two accredited investors, including a convertible promissory note for \$200,000 to a board member to which Series A preferred stock was sold. These notes accrued interest at 3% per annum and automatically were to mature on June 1, 2015. Accrued interest was to be paid in cash upon maturity. Upon

the closing of the IPO, the outstanding principal amount automatically converted into 53,571 shares common stock at \$5.60, as amended in March 2015. Upon issuance, we analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a beneficial conversion feature ("BCF") existed because the effective conversion price on issuance of the notes was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. We calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method and recorded a BCF of \$75,000 as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, we amortized \$18,183, respectively, of the discount, which has also been recorded as interest expense.

On July 16, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, we issued a convertible promissory note in the principal amount of \$150,000 to an accredited investor. This note accrued interest at 3% per annum and automatically was to mature on June 1, 2015. Accrued interest was to be paid in cash upon maturity. Upon the closing of the IPO, the outstanding principal amount automatically converted into 26,785 shares of common stock at \$5.60, as amended in March 2015. Upon issuance, we analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. We calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method and recorded a BCF of \$37,500 as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. For the three months ended March 31, 2015, we amortized \$10,514 of the discount, which has also been recorded as interest expense.

31

Table of Contents

In connection with the Transfer Agreement (Note 7) we issued fully vested and immediately exercisable warrants to the Manufacturer to purchase 16,666 shares of common stock at 90% of the IPO price, amended to \$6.30 in March 2015, for a period of five years. The fair value of the warrants, \$37,840, was recorded as research and development expense and additional paid-in capital in June 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$4.83, exercise price of \$4.35, term of five years, volatility of 49%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.64%.

On December 23, 2014, pursuant to a convertible note purchase agreement, we issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of \$650,000 to three accredited investors, including a convertible promissory note for \$250,000 to the same board member to which the June 2, 2014 \$200,000 convertible promissory note was issued and to which Series A preferred stock was sold. These notes accrued interest at 12% per annum and became payable within thirty days following the IPO. Upon consummation of our IPO, the noteholders converted the notes into 116,070 shares of common stock at a conversion price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. In connection with these notes, we also issued the lenders a fully vested warrant to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. These warrants entitle the noteholders to purchase 58,035 shares of common stock. The fair value of the warrants, \$147,943, was recorded as a debt discount and liability at December 23, 2014. We amortized \$60,548 of this discount during the three months ended March 31, 2015. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$4.59, exercise price of \$4.15, term of three years, volatility of 49%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.10%. Based on the circumstances, the value derived using the Black-Scholes model approximated that which would be obtained using a lattice model. The debt discount was be recorded as interest expense over the one hundred ninety days from issuance of the notes through their first maturity date of July 31, 2015, beginning in January 2015. We analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. We calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method. A BCF of \$502,057 has been recorded as a discount to th

2015 Convertible Notes

In February 2015, we issued convertible promissory notes to two accredited investors in the aggregate principal amount of \$250,000. These notes were issued pursuant to the convertible note purchase agreement dated December 23, 2014. Principal and interest of \$103,912 was paid in May 2015 for \$100,000 of these notes.

Our remaining outstanding note of \$150,000 is payable to Serious Change II LP at an effective simple interest rate of 12% per annum, and is due in full on July 31, 2016. The note is included in notes payable in the balance sheet. We accrued interest of \$20,367, which is included in accrued liabilities in the Company's balance sheet. The note remains outstanding as Serious Change II LP elected not to convert the note as per the terms of the agreement.

In March 2015, we entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Dechra Pharmaceuticals PLC ("Dechra"). In connection therewith, Dechra paid us \$1.0 million. At March 31, 2015, we had recorded this amount as a loan advance on the balance sheet. In April 2015, Dechra purchased \$1.0 million of convertible promissory notes from us, the terms of which provided that such notes were to be converted into shares of our common stock upon the closing of an IPO at a conversion price of \$5.60 per share. In connection with the purchase of the notes, we issued Dechra a warrant to purchase 89,285 shares at \$5.60 per share, which expires December 31, 2017. The notes accrued simple interest of 12% per annum and, upon consummation of our IPO in May 2015, converted into 178,571 shares of the Company's common stock. We analyzed the beneficial nature of the conversion terms and determined that a BCF existed because the effective conversion price was less than the fair value at the time of the issuance. We calculated the value of the BCF using the intrinsic method. A BCF of for the full face value was recorded as a discount to the notes payable and to additional paid-in capital. We amortized the entire BCF of \$1.0 million by the end of May 2015 and recorded the amortized amounts as interest expense through that period.

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the convertible notes payable obligations were as follows:

	March 31, 2016	1	December 31, 2015	
Notes Payable	\$ 150,000	\$	150,000	
Unamortized note discount	_		_	
Net debt obligation	\$ 150,000	\$	150,000	
	 		•	

32

Table of Contents

	March 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Nominal Interest	\$ 4,488	\$ 29,893
Amortization of debt discount	_	361,476
Repayment premium	_	_
Deferred financing costs	_	_
	\$ 4,488	\$ 391,369

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, interest payable on convertible notes payable was \$80,487 and \$75,999, respectively.

Notes Payable—Bridge Loans

On October 30, 2014, we entered into a standby bridge financing agreement with two lenders, which was amended and restated on December 3, 2014, which provided a loan commitment in the aggregate principal amount of \$1.0 million (the "Bridge"). We received proceeds net of a \$100,000 debt discount under the terms of the Bridge and net of \$104,000 of debt issuance costs. This debt discount and debt issuance costs were recorded as interest expense using the effective interest method, over the six month term of the Bridge. The Bridge became payable upon the IPO. The Bridge was repaid in May 2015, including interest thereon in an amount of \$1,321,600. In connection with the Bridge, the lenders were granted warrants to purchase that number of shares of our common stock determined by dividing \$1.0 million by the exercise price of 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015. The fair value of the warrants, \$505,348, was originally recorded as a debt discount and liability at December 3, 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$5.01, exercise price of \$5.23, term of five years, volatility of 63%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 1.61%. Based on the circumstances, the value derived using the Black-Scholes model approximated that which would be obtained using a lattice model. The debt discount was recorded as interest expense over the six month term of the Bridge. Of the aggregate debt discount of \$605,348 (warrants and original \$100,000 discount), \$521,291 was recorded as interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2015. Additional financing costs of \$104,000 were incurred related to the Bridge and deferred on closing. These are being recognized as interest expense over the six-month term of the Bridge using the effective interest method. We amortized the remaining \$86,667 of these deferred financing charges by the end of May 2015 was recorded the amortized amounts as interest expense.

We fully extinguished the debt in May of 2015.

Interest expense on the notes payable-bridge loans was as follows:

	arch 31, 2016	March 31, 2015
Nominal Interest	\$ 	\$ 57,178
Amortization of debt discount	_	305,272
Repayment premium	_	129,659
Deferred financing costs	_	49,555
	\$ _	\$ 541,664

Standby Line of Credit

In August 2014, we entered into a standby line of credit with an accredited investor for up to \$1.0 million pursuant to a Line of Credit and Loan Agreement dated August 26, 2014. In connection with the entry into the standby line of credit, we issued the lender a fully vested warrant to purchase 33,333 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to 80% of the IPO price, amended to \$5.60 in March 2015, which expires in August 2016. The fair value of the warrants, \$114,300, was recorded as interest expense and additional paid-in capital in August 2014. The warrants were originally valued using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: stock price of \$8.00, exercise price of \$6.40, term of two years, volatility of 52%, dividend yield of 0%, and risk-free interest rate of 0.52%. The line of credit expired on March 31, 2015 and there have been no drawdowns under the facility.

33

Table of Contents

Long-term Debt

In August 2015, we entered into a loan and security agreement with a lender for up to \$8.0 million, which provided for an initial loan commitment of \$6.0 million. The loan agreement requires us to maintain \$4.5 million of the proceeds in cash, which may be reduced or eliminated on the achievement of certain milestones. An additional \$2.0 million is available contingent on the achievement of certain further milestones. The agreement has a term of three years, with interest only payments through February 29, 2016. Thereafter, principal and interest payments will be made with an interest rate of 9.9%. Additionally, there will be a balloon payment of \$560,000 on August 1, 2018. This amount is being recognized over the term of the loan agreement and the effective interest rate, considering the balloon payment, is 15.0%. We received proceeds net of a \$134,433 debt discount under the terms of the loan agreement. This debt discount is being recorded as interest expense, using the interest method, over the term of the loan agreement. Under the agreement, we are entitled to prepay principal and accrued interest upon five days prior notice to the lender. In the event of prepayment, we are obligated to pay a prepayment charge. If such prepayment is made during any of the first twelve months of the loan agreement, the prepayment charge will be (a) during such time as we are required to maintain a minimum cash balance, 2% of the minimum cash balance amount plus 3% of the difference between the amount being prepaid and the minimum cash balance, and (b) after such time as we are no longer required to maintain a minimum cash balance, 3% of the amount being prepaid. If such prepayment is made during any time after the first twelve months of the loan agreement, 1% of the amount being prepaid.

On April 21, 2016, the loan and security was amended upon which we repaid \$1.5 million of the debt out of restricted cash. The amendment modified the repayment amortization schedule providing a four month period of interest only payments for the period from May through August 2016.

As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the net long-term debt obligation was as follows:

	March 31, 2016	I	December 31, 2015
Debt and unpaid accrued end-of-term payment	\$ 6,013,753	\$	6,115,797
Unamortized note discount	(88,224)		(106,635)

Unamortized debt issuance costs Net debt obligation	\$ (176,474) 5,749,055	\$	(206,235) 5,802,927
Current portion of long-term debt Long-term debt, net of discount	\$ 2,119,730 3,629,325	\$ \$	1,707,899 4,095,028
Total	\$ 5,749,055	\$	5,802,927

Future principal payments under the long-term debt as of March 31, 2016 are as follows:

Years ending December 31 (except 2016 which is the nine months ending December 31)	Amount	
2016 April through December	\$ 1,653,760	
2017	2,409,780	
2018	1,757,720	
Total future principal payments	\$ 5,821,260	
2018 end-of-term payment	\$ 560,000	
	\$ 6,381,260	
Less: unaccreted end-of-term payment at March 31, 2016	\$ (367,507)	
Debt and unpaid accrued end-of-term payment	\$ 6,013,753	

The obligation at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 includes an end-of-term payment of \$560,000, which accretes over the life of the loan as interest expense. As a result of the debt discount and the end-of-term payment, the effective interest rate for the loan differs from the contractual rate.

34

Table of Contents

Interest expense on the long-term debt was as follows:

	March 31 2016	,	March 31, 2015
Nominal Interest	\$ 14	8,626 \$	
Amortization of debt discount	1	8,411 \$	_
Accretion of end-of-term payment	7	6,696 \$	_
Deferred financing costs	3	6,016	
	\$ 27	9,749 \$	

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, interest payable on long-term debt was \$49,626 and \$51,150, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since inception, we have not engaged in the use of any off-balance sheet arrangements, such as structured finance entities, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP, requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures in the financial statements. Critical accounting policies are those accounting policies that may be material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change, and that have a material impact on financial condition or operating performance. While we base our estimates and judgments on our experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our financial statements require significant judgments and estimates. For additional information relating to these and other accounting policies, see Note 2 to our audited financial statements, appearing elsewhere in this report.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate accrued research and development expenses. Estimated accrued expenses include fees paid to vendors and clinical sites in connection with our clinical trials and studies. We review new and open contracts and communicate with applicable internal and vendor personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimate the level of service performed and the associated costs incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost for accrued expenses. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed or as milestones are achieved in relation to our contract manufacturers. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each reporting date.

We base our accrued expenses related to clinical trials and studies on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with vendors, our internal resources, and payments to clinical sites based on enrollment projections. The financial terms of the vendor agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of animals and the completion of development milestones. We estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the related expense accrual accordingly on a prospective basis. If we do not identify costs that have been incurred or if we underestimate or overestimate the level of services performed or the costs of these services, our actual expenses could differ from our estimates. To date, we have not made any material adjustments to our estimates of accrued research and development expenses or the level of services performed in any reporting period presented.

The Company expenses the total cost of a certain long-term manufacturing development contract ratably over the estimated life of the contract, or the total amount paid if greater.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

During 2013, we did not issue any stock awards to employees, directors or consultants and did not incur any stock based compensation expense. Beginning in the second quarter of 2014, we awarded options and restricted stock units. We measure stock-based awards granted to employees and directors at fair value on the date of grant and recognize the corresponding

35

Table of Contents

compensation expense of the awards, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service periods, which correspond to the vesting periods of the awards.

Key Assumptions. Our Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, the expected term of the option, risk-free interest rates and the expected dividend yield of our common stock. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management's judgment. If factors change and different assumptions are used, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. These assumptions are estimated as follows:

- Fair value of our common stock—Our common stock is valued by reference to the publicly-traded price of our common stock.
- Expected volatility—As we do not have any trading history for our common stock, the expected stock price volatility for our common stock was estimated by taking the average historic price volatility for industry peers based on daily price observations for common stock values over a period equivalent to the expected term of our stock option grants. We did not rely on implied volatilities of traded options in our industry peers' common stock because the volume of activity was relatively low. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own common stock share price becomes available.
- Expected term—The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. It is based on the "simplified method" for developing the estimate of the expected life of a "plain vanilla" stock option. Under this approach, the expected term is presumed to be the midpoint between the average vesting date and the end of the contractual term for each vesting tranche. We intend to continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical exercise activity is available to be able to reliably estimate the expected term.
- Risk-free interest rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities similar to the expected term of the options for each option group.
- · Dividend yield—We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.
- · Forfeitures—We estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates periodically in subsequent periods. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest.

Common Stock Valuations. Prior to our IPO, the fair value of the common stock underlying our stock options was determined by our board of directors, which intended all options granted to be exercisable at a price per share not less than the per share fair value of our common stock underlying those options on the date of grant. The valuations of our common stock were determined in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. The assumptions we used in the valuation model are highly complex and subjective. We base our assumptions on future expectations combined with management judgment. In the absence of a public trading market, our board of directors, with input from management, exercised significant judgment and considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of our common stock as of the date of each option grant and stock award. These judgments and factors will not be necessary to determine the fair value of new awards once the underlying shares begin trading. For now we included the following factors:

- the prices, rights, preferences and privileges of our Series A preferred stock relative to those of our common stock;
- · lack of marketability of our common stock;
- · our actual operating and financial performance;
- · current business conditions and projections;
- · hiring of key personnel and the experience of our management;
- our stage of development;

36

Table of Contents

- · illiquidity of share-based awards involving securities in a private company;
- · the U.S. capital market conditions; and
- the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an offering or a merger or acquisition of our company given prevailing market conditions.

The fair value per share of our common stock for purposes of determining stock-based compensation is now the closing price of our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Stock Market on the applicable grant date.

Classification of Securities

We apply the principles of ASC 480-10 "Distinguishing Liabilities From Equity" and ASC 815-40 "Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity's Own Equity" to determine whether financial instruments such as warrants, contingently issuable shares and shares subject to repurchase should be classified as liabilities or equity and whether beneficial conversion features exist.

Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2014, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of \$8.8 million and \$8.6 million, respectively, which will begin to expire in 2033, subject to limitations. Our management has evaluated the factors bearing upon the realizability of our deferred tax assets, which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards. Our management concluded that, due to the uncertainty of realizing any tax benefits as of December 31, 2014, a valuation allowance was necessary to fully offset our deferred tax assets. We have evaluated our uncertain tax positions and determined that we have no liabilities from unrecognized tax benefits and therefore we have not incurred any penalties or interest. The Tax Reform Act of 1986, as amended, limits the use of net operating loss and tax credit carryforward in certain situations where changes occur in the stock ownership of a company. In the event we have a change in ownership in the future, as defined by the tax law, utilization of the carryforwards could be limited.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)*, which provides guidance for accounting for leases. Under ASU 2016-02, we will be required to recognize the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leased assets. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-02 on our financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, *Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (Topic 740)*, which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes. Under ASU 2015-17, deferred tax assets and liabilities are required to be classified as noncurrent, eliminating the prior requirement to separate deferred tax assets and liabilities into current and noncurrent. The new guidance is effective for us beginning on January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The standard may be adopted prospectively or retrospectively to all periods presented. We are currently assessing the timing of adoption of the new guidance, but does not expect it will have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, *Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30)*: Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring debt issuance costs to be presented as a deduction from the corresponding debt liability. ASU 2015-03 will be effective for us beginning in its first quarter of 2016, however early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The guidance is to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. We adopted ASU 2015-03 on December 31, 2015.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40)—Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern," which provides guidance regarding management's responsibility to assess whether substantial doubt exists regarding the ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. In connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, management should evaluate whether there are condition or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued when applicable). This ASU is effective for the

37

Table of Contents

annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual periods and interim periods thereafter. We are evaluating the new guidance and have not determined the impact this standard may have on our financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that requires that a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. The performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the awarded. Compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. If the performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized during and after the requisite service period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved. This guidance will be effective for annual periods (and interim periods within those annual periods) beginning after December 15, 2015. We will implement this guidance for all interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have an impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers." The objective of ASU2014-19 is to establish a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and will supersede most of the existing revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the new standard is that revenue should be recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and allows for prospective or retrospective application. We are evaluating this pronouncement and have not yet determined the impact it will have on our financial statements.

JOBS Act

In April 2012 the JOBS Act was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. Thus, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this extended transition

period, and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Our disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to meet reasonable assurance standards. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

38

Table of Contents

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

39

Table of Contents

PART II. — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings. However, from time to time, we may become subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None

Evhibit

Item 6. Exhibits

Number	Description
10.1	First Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver, dated as of April 21, 2016, by and among Jaguar Animal Health, Inc.,
	Hercules Capital, Inc. and the lender party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's current report on
	Form 8-K, filed April 26, 2016)
31.1	Principal Executive Officer's Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Principal Financial Officer's Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*	Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
32.2*	Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

^{*}In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K and SEC Release No. 34-47986, the certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-Q and will not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") or deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933 except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 10, 2016

JAGUAR ANIMAL HEALTH, INC.

By: /s/ Karen S. Wright

Karen S. Wright Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Lisa A. Conte, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Jaguar Animal Health, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Not applicable;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Lisa A. Conte

Lisa A. Conte President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER'S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Karen S. Wright, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Jaguar Animal Health, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Not applicable;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Karen S. Wright
Karen S. Wright
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Jaguar Animal Health, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2016, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned officer of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer's knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Lisa A. Conte

Lisa A. Conte President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Jaguar Animal Health, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2016, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned officer of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer's knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Karen S. Wright
Karen S. Wright
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)